IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSIS

NO. 2007-CP-01795-COA

CALVIN LEE ROBINSON

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

FILED

NOV 2 5 2008

V.

2

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Calivin Lee Robe

Calvin Lee Robinson, #L6862 P. O. Box 5188 Holly Springs, MS 38634-5188

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-01795-COA CALVIN LEE ROBINSON APPEI

APPELLANT

V

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

Whether trial court erred in finding that the Post Conviction Motion filed on September 24, 2007, was a successive Motion within the means of Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-23(6) where the initial Motion filed on July 24, 2004 did not comply with the Post Conviction Relief Act under Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-9.

ISSUE TWO

Whether trial court erred in finding the Post Conviction Motion to be successive where court did not file PCR under new number and treated PCR as a continuation or supplement to the initial Motion which was filed under same cause number.

ISSUE THREE

Petitioner was denied due process of law and subjected to a fundamental constitutional violation in sentencing where Petitioner was sentenced to a term of

30 years with 10 years suspended, as a first-time felony offender, after being convicted of statutory rape during a single incident. Such sentence was outside the scope of the sentencing guidelines, disproportional to the offense charged, and excessive under the procedures outlined in <u>Solem v. Helm</u>, 463 U.S. 277, 291 (1983).

ISSUE FOUR

The indictment failed to provide to provide the appropriate judicial district in which the crime was alleged to have been committed which failure constitute a violation of the Sixth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution and Rule 7.06(4) of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, where such requirement provides that the Indictment "shall include the County and Judicial in which the indictment is brought."

ISSUE FIVE

The Circuit Court committed plain error by failure to include in the record a factual basis for the plea, and Calvin L. Robinson was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Robinson of the right to directly appeal the imposed sentence to the Supreme Court pursuant to the decision rendered by the Supreme Court in <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 554 So.2d 313, 315 (Miss. 1989); <u>Gunter v. State</u>, 841 So.2d 195 (Miss. App. 2003).

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections at the Marshall County Correctional Facility in service of a mandatory prison term imposed as a result of the conviction which is the subject of this action. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of conviction and imposition by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On June 27, 2002, a criminal indictment was filed against Calvin Robinson charging Robinson with the criminal offense of statutory rape under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-65(1)(b). Honorable Johnny Walls of Greenville, Mississippi was retained to represent appellant in this case. Appellant was represented at pretrial proceeding and at plea colloquy by Honorable Leland Jones of Greenwood, Mississippi.

ł,

The indictment charged that Calvin Robinson "... did unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously have (six) sexual intercourse with Tajuana Glass, a female child under the age of fourteen (14) years, and the said Tajuana Glass being twenty-four (24) or more months younger than Calvin L. Robinson, and he, Calvin L. Robinson, not being married to Tajuana Glass, ..."

On December 11, 2002, Robinosn was permitted by the court to enter a plea of guilty to the charge of Statutory Rape in Leflore County under cause number 2002-0149. The court accepted Robinson's plea of guilty and on July 24, 2003, sentenced Robinson to a term of 30 years in the custody of MDOC with 10 years suspended.

On June 13, 2003, a hearing was held on Robinson's Motion for Leave to Withdraw his Guilty Plea, and the Court found that Robinson had failed to show reason why the Court should grant the relief requested and denied Robinson's motion.

Calvin L. Robinson was a first time offender with no previous convictions. On July 24, 2003, the trial court imposed a sentence of 30 years with 10 years suspended, and five (5) supervised probation, in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

On July 24, 2004, exactly one year after he was sentenced, Robinson filed Post-conviction on the grounds that: (1) Guilty Plea was made involuntarily (2) ineffective Assistance of Counsel, and (3) Sentence was not rendered in proportion to evidence presented or Crime (Cruel and Undue Punishment).

On or about October 22, 2004, the court entered an order denying Robinson "Motion for Post Conviction Relief and dismissed the case pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-39-11(2). Appellant subsequently filed a supplemental motion for post conviction relief on September 24, 2007, where the motion was filed under the same civil action cause number as the initial motion.

Appellant Robinson was not provided with a sentence proportionality analysis in this case before being sentenced to 20 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. This was the maximum sentence allowed by law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v</u> State, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously dismissed the PCR as successive where the PCR was filed in conviction with the timely filed PCR and was filed under the same cause No. Moreover, the initial PCR was not statutorily valid where it did not comply with Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-9. The initial PCR was invalid and void. The second PCR was therefore not successive.

Calvin Robinson was provided with ineffective assistance of counsel during trial where counsel:

a) Failed to summon adequate witnesses;

b) Failed to perform pretrial investigation;

c) Failed to file pretrial motions including but not limited to the failure to file motion to squash the indictment based on the fact that the indictment failed to charge a crime within the judicial district not previously ascertained by law.

V.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW AND ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF CLAIMS

1.

Whether trial court erred in finding that the Post Conviction Motion filed

on September 24, 2007, was a successive Motion within the means of Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-23(6) where the initial Motion filed on July 24, 2004 did not comply with the Post Conviction Relief Act under Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-9.

The trial court found that the motion was successive since a prior letter had been filed, which was treated by the Court as a PCR, and denied. The problem with this finding is that the motion which the court refer to as to make the current motion a successive motion, was not statutorily sustainable to meet the requirements of the Post Conviction Collateral relief Statute and was therefore a void motion. <u>The PCR statute is clear</u>. Such statute sets out the requirements of the PCR motion and provides that: § 99-39-9. Requirements of motion and service.

(1) A motion under this article shall name the state of Mississippi as respondent and shall contain all of the following:

(a) The identity of the proceedings in which the prisoner was convicted.

(b) The date of the entry of the judgment of conviction and sentence of which complaint is made.

(c) A concise statement of the claims or grounds upon which the motion is based.

(d) A separate statement of the specific facts which are within the personal knowledge of the prisoner and which shall be sworn to by the prisoner.

(e) A specific statement of the facts which are not within the prisoner's personal knowledge. The motion shall state how or by whom said facts will be proven. Affidavits of the witnesses who will testify and copies of documents or records that will be offered shall be attached to the motion. The affidavits of other persons; and the copies of documents and records may be excused upon a showing, which shall be specifically detailed in the motion, of good cause why they cannot be obtained. This showing shall state what the prisoner has done to attempt to obtain the affidavits, records and documents, the production of which he requests the court to excuse.

(f) The identity of any previous proceedings in federal or state courts that the prisoner may have taken to secure relief from his conviction and sentence.

(2) A motion shall be limited to the assertion of a claim for relief against one (1) judgment only. If a prisoner desires to attack the validity of other judgments under which he is in custody, he shall do so by separate motions. (3) The motion shall be verified by the oath of the prisoner.

(4) If the motion received by the clerk does not substantially comply with the requirements of this section, it shall be returned to the prisoner if a judge of the court so directs, together with a statement of the reason for its return. The clerk shall retain a copy of the motion so returned.

(5) The prisoner shall deliver or serve a copy of the motion, together with a notice of its filing, on the state. The filing of the motion shall not require an answer or other motion unless so ordered by the court under Section 99-39-11(3).

Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-9.

The letter filed by Appellant did not meet the requirements of this statute and should have been returned to the petitioner by the Clerk unfiled in accordance with Miss. Code Ann: § 99=39=9(4). Where the Court failed recognize and to — * follow this mandatory requirement of the statute it should not be allowed to count toward the decision of the current motion being successive. This Court should reverse the finding of the trial court where it is based upon a finding of successiveness because of the prior PCR written as a letter.

2.

Whether trial court erred in finding the Post Conviction Motion to be successive where court did not file PCR under new number and treated PCR as a continuation or supplement to the initial Motion which was filed under same cause number. The trial court filed the current PCR as a continuation of the prior PCR and

under the same cause number. The statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-7.

The motion under this article shall be filed as an original civil action in the trial court, except in cases in which the prisoner's conviction and sentence have been appealed to the supreme court of Mississippi and there affirmed or the appeal dismissed. Where the conviction and sentence have been affirmed on appeal or the appeal has been dismissed, the motion under this article shall not be filed in the trial court until the motion shall have first been presented to a quorum of the justices of the supreme court of Mississippi, convened for said purpose either in term-time or in vacation, and an order granted allowing the filing of such motion in the trial court. The procedure governing applications to the supreme court for leave to file a motion under this article shall be as provided in Section 99-39-27.

In the instant case the Appellant's conviction was by a plea of guilty and _________ required that the PCR be filed in the trial court. The motion, in order to be regarded as a separate motion. should have been assigned an original civil action number and filed as such. Otherwise the PCR Motion must be deemed as a part of the original motion in which it's number it contains. The trial court should not have regarded the motion as being successive. This finding should be reversed. Robinson is entitled to a hearing on the merits of his motion.

3.

Petitioner was denied due process law and subjected to a fundamental constitutional violation in sentencing where Petitioner was sentenced to a term of

30 years with 10 years suspended, as a first-time felony offender, after being convicted of statutory rape during a single incident. Such sentence was outside the scope of the sentencing guidelines, disproportional and excessive under the procedures outlined in <u>Solem v. Helm</u>, 463 U.S. 277, 291 (1983).

Robinson is a first time offender with no other similar prior history to the crime he committed. Petitioner Robinson is entitled to relief so as to have his sentence reviewed under a proportionality analysis under the intervening decision rendered in Towner v. State, 837 So.2d 221 (Miss. App. 2003).

i) <u>Intervening Decision By the Court</u> as Authority to Determine Claim

The Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi has recently decided a case which is supportive of the claim presented reference to a unduly harsh sentence being imposed upon a first time offender. In <u>Towner v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003), the court found that "a sentence of 30 years incarceration, maximum allowable penalty, for a first time drug offender was an excessive sentence and required a sentence proportionality analysis.1

The <u>Towner</u> court held the following:

"A court's proportionality analysis [of a sentence] under the Eighth Amendment should be guided by objective criteria, including (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty; (ii) the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and (iii) the sentences imposed

¹ It should be noted that under the drug law which the defendant in <u>Towner</u>, <u>supra</u>, was convicted under the term of sentence was not required to be served mandatory. However, in the case at bar, by law, Calvin Robinson must serve his sentence mandatory, without any credit for earned time, parole, or early release. Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-139(1)(d), as amended. Robinson's sentence is therefore twice as heinous as the sentence imposed in <u>Towner</u>, <u>supra</u>.

for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions." Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 291, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637(1983) (writ of habeas corpus). This Court looks for guidance to the cases of White v. State, 742 So.2d 1126, 1135(¶ 32) (Miss.1999), and Davis v. State, 724 So.2d 342, 346(¶ 17) (Miss.1998), both of which involved the imposition of a maximum sentence of a first offender convicted of the sale of one rock of cocaine. In each case the Mississippi Supreme Court remanded for a review of the sentence. Although the amount of contraband sold by Towner was more than the amount at issue in White or Davis, the first time offender status is the same. However, due to the uniqueness of this particular case, that is, a first time offender was sentenced to the maximum sentence allowed by law, the trial judge acknowledges he may have been too harsh, and the prosecuting district attorney states he has no objection to a re-sentencing hearing. We hold that the case should be remanded for a review of the sentence.

Towner v. State, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003)

Prior to the decision rendered in <u>Towner</u>, and at the time of the imposition of the sentence in this case, the law was simply that: As a general rule, a sentence that does not exceed the maximum period allowed by statute will not be disturbed on appeal. <u>Wallace v. State</u>, 607 So.2d 1184, 1188 (Miss. 1992). Generally, the imposition of a sentence is within the discretion of the trial court, and appellate courts will not review the sentence, if it is within the limits prescribed by statute. <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 753, 756 (Miss. 1991).

ii) <u>Retroactive Application of Towner v. State 837 So.2d 221,</u> 227 (Miss. App. 2003)

The Mississippi Supreme Court, In <u>Hall v. Hilbun</u>, 466 So. 2d 856, 875-76 (Miss. 1985), held that judicially enunciated rules of law are applied retroactively. The Hall v. Hilbun court held that:

It is a general rule that judicially enunciated rules of law are applied retroactively. Legislation applies prospectively only, and we are not thought to be in the business of legislating. Rather, our function is to decide cases justly in accordance with sound legal principles which of necessity must be formulated, articulated and applied consistent with the facts of the case.

Keyes v. Guy Bailey Homes, Inc., 439 So.2d 670 (Miss. 1983), abolishing the requirement of privity of contract in home construction contracts applied retroactively; Tideway

Oil Programs, Inc. v. Serio, 431 So.2d 454 (Miss.1983), providing that punitive damages may be recovered in chancery court was applied retroactively; McDaniel v. State, 356 So.2d 1151 (Miss.1978) overruling cases which allowed voluntary intoxication as a defense to a crime applied retroactively.

The general rule applied universally in this country in federal and state courts is simply put in Jones v. Thigpen, 741 F.2d 805 (5th Cir.1984).

"Judicial decisions ordinarily apply retroactively. See Robinson v. Neil, 409 U.S. 505, 507-08, 93 S.Ct. 876, 877-78, 35 L.Ed.2d 29 (1973). 'Indeed, a legal system based on precedent has a built-in presumption of retroactivity. Solem v. Stumes, --- U.S. ----, 104 S.Ct. 1338, 1341, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984)."

--741 F.2d at 810.

Even Pruett v. City of Rosedale, 421 So.2d 1046 (Miss.1982), was held to apply retroactively to that case.

We note that other states, when shedding the "locality rule", have done so in a routine manner by simply adopting the new rule and applying it in a normal (retroactive) fashion without fanfare. See Zills v. Brown, 382 So.2d 528, 532 (Ala.1980) applying this new rule retroactively in Drs. Lane, Bryant, Eubanks & Dulaney v. Otts, 412 So.2d 254, 256-8 (Ala.1982) and May v. Moore, 424 So.2d 596, 597-601 (Ala.1982); Jenkins v. Parrish, 627 P.2d 533, 537 n. 1 (Utah 1981) (rule to be applied retroactively); Orcutt v. Miller, 95 Nev. 408, 595 P.2d 1191, 1194-95 (1979) (new rule routinely applied); Ardoin v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 360 So.2d 1331, 1339 n. 22 (La.1978) (overruling Percle v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 349 So.2d 1289, 1303 (La.Ct.App.1977), which had held abandonment of locality rule to be prospective Bruni v. Tatsumi, 46 Ohio St.2d 127, 134-35, 346 N.E.2d 673, 679 (1976) (new rule only): routinely applied); - Kronke v. Danielson, 108 Ariz. 400, 403, 499 P.2d 156, 159 (1972) (same); Wiggins v. Piver, 276 N.C. 134, 141, 171 S.E.2d 393, 397-98 (1970) (same); Naccarato v. Grob, 384 Mich. 248, 253-54, 180 N.W.2d 788, 791 (1970) (same); Brune v. Belinkoff, 354 Mass. 102, 108-09, 235 N.E.2d 793, 798 (1968) (same). Even when acknowledging the issue to be one of first impression, one court applied the new rule routinely with no hint of prospective-only application. Morrison v. MacNamara, 407 A.2d 555, 562 (D.C.1979).

Hall v. Hilbun, 466 So.2d 856 (Miss. 1985)

It is clear from Mississippi law that the decision rendered by the Mississippi

Court of Appeals, which is a representative of the Mississippi Supreme Court, should be applied to the case at bar retroactively since this are judicially enunciated rule of law as opposed to Legislation.

 iii) The Sentence Imposed in this Case, Without a Sentencing Proportionality Analysis, is an Illegal Sentence under Rule Announced in <u>Towner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003) In <u>Towner v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003), the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi firmly held that a first time offender convicted of a drug offense should be allowed a sentence proportionality hearing before being sentenced to the maximum sentence allowed by law.2 As a matter of law, without considering any facts affiliated with this case Robinson is entitled to some relief based upon the fact that the same identical thing happened in his case as happened in the <u>Towner</u> case. The Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi has found that this is an incorrect procedure of law and if it was incorrect in Towner, it was incorrect in the sentencing of Calvin Robinson.

The sentencing proceedings in this case proceeded as follows:

THE COURT: All right, thank you Mr. Walls.

This is a day of sorrow I think for everybody in the courtroom. Mr. Robinson, would you stand up here, please, for sentencing

(THE DEFENDANT APPROACHED THE BENCH WITH HIS ATTORNEY, MR. WALLS.)

THE COURT: Unfortunately the Court -- I think the Court needs to have some reconciliation on both sides of this case, but the

 $^{^2}$ While the Court held such rule of law in a first time drug offender case, Petitioner would avert that first time offenders, no matter what the crime may be, should be entitled to a sentence proportionality analysis determination under this rule. Circuit Courts should not discriminate as to which first time offenders may be entitled to such analysis. Robinson was a man with a prior record which was

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