IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CALVIN LEE ROBINSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CP-1795-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The record reflects that the trial court correctly found that Robinson's motion for post conviction relief in this cause was his second motion for post conviction relief. C.P. 48-49. His first motion for post conviction relief was filed on July 13, 2003. R. 7. After a hearing, the trial court denied relief. R. 52-53.

Another motion was filed on "July 24, 2004." C.P. 4; 37. His current motion came on "September 17, 2007." C.P. 37.

The trial court found under M. C. A. § 99-39-23(6) that Robinson's motion in September, 2007 was therefore barred as "a successive writ." The denial of Robinson's motion in October 22, 2004 was "a final judgment." C.P. 48. There is a presumption that the trial court's ruling was correct. Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987).

2. There was no claim or evidence in support of any claim by Robinson indicating that he qualified for any of the exceptions provided for dismissal of an petitioner's motion as being "a final judgment." See M. C. A. § 99-39-23(6). **Towner v. State**, 837 So. 2d 221, 227 (Miss. App. 2003) provides no basis for an exception to the bar for a successive writ.

There was no claim of recently discovered evidence or any "relevant" intervening decision "that would be practically conclusive" that Robinson's plea or sentence would have been different as a result. C.P. 8-41.

3. The record reflects that in addition to Robinson's motion being barred as a successive writ, it is also lacking in merit. The record reflects that Robinson's guilty plea with counsel was properly accepted, after a hearing. R. 2-6. It was accepted after the court questioned Robinson and his counsel about Robinson's comprehension of the nature of the charge and consequences of his plea. After this process, the trial court found that Robinson's plea was voluntarily and intelligently

entered. R. 6; C.P. 4; 48.

There is a lack of evidence of any ineffective assistance of counsel on the part of his guilty plea counsel, Mr. Leland Jones. There is a "strong presumption" that guilty plea counsel's advise, counsel and actions on behalf of a client, fall within the wide range of professional competence required of such counsel.

There is a presumption that his actions were strategic choices within the wide range of possible such choices on behalf of a defendant.

Jones was available to testify in his defense at the hearing on Robinson's motion to withdraw guilty plea, but Robinson did not chose to question him. R. 44-45.

The thirty with ten years suspended sentence is within the guidelines provided for one convicted of statutory rape under M. C. A. § 97-3-65(1) (c), which can range from life imprisonment to not less than twenty.

There is a lack of evidence for finding that Robinson was misinformed or mislead as to his sentence in the instant cause. **Smith v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1220, 1227 (Miss. 1994). There was no affidavit from Mr. Leland Jones who is being accused of having mislead Robinson as to his sentence.

The claim of having been mislead concerning a possible six or eight year sentence is not only contradicted by the statutory authority for sentences for statutory rape, but also by the trial court's order indicating that the record showed Robinson acknowledged under oath that he knew the trial court "was bound only by the statutory limits of the sentence. Do you understand that? Robinson answered, "Yes, sir." C.P. 5; R. 5.

The record also reflects that the trial court lacked authority to alter or modify a sentence. The term of court in which Robinson was sentenced had expired when he filed his motion. **Presley v.**State, 792 So. 2d 950 (¶ 18) (Miss. 2001).

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT ROBINSON'S MOTION WAS HIS SECOND MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF AND BARRED AS A SUCCESSIVE WRIT.

In his "motion for post conviction relief to vacate and set aside sentence," Robinson complains of an involuntary plea, ineffective assistance of counsel, and an excessive sentence given his age at the time of conviction. Robinson also attempts to argue evidentiary issues related to substantiating the factual elements necessary to prove the charges against him at a trial by jury in the instant cause. Appellant's brief page 1-34 and motion page 8-41

The record reflects that the trial court found that this motion for post conviction relief filed by Robinson was his second motion in this cause. C.P. 48-49.

On July 13, 2003, after a hearing before the Circuit Court, the trial court denied Robinson's "motion to withdraw his guilty plea." C.P. 4; R. 7-53.

The record reflects that Mr. Leland Jones was Robinson's guilty plea counsel. R. 1-6. After questioning both Robinson, and his counsel, the trial court found that Robinson's guilty plea to the statutory rape of Ms. Twanna Glass was "knowingly, willingly, and voluntarily entered into." R. 6.

Mr Johnnie Walls represented Robinson at a hearing on his "motion for leave to withdraw his guilty plea." R. 7. That motion included alleged ineffective assistance of counsel on the part of Mr. Leland Jones. The record reflects that when Mr Jones was available before the Circuit Court at that hearing, Robinson and his counsel decided to withdraw their allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. R. 43-45.

Walls: We'd like to amend our motion to the extent that if it gives the impression

that we're claiming that Mr. Jones was ineffective. ... It has nothing to do with the attorney's job or his effectiveness or his professionalism. It has something to do with what's in his mind, my client's mind.

Childs: Well, is the state understanding that there are no ineffective assistance of counsel claims being attached to this motion to withdraw the defendant's guilty plea?

Walls: No.

Childs: And if that's the case, then there's no need for us to call Mr. Jones to defend himself against any ineffectiveness of assistance of counsel. R. 44-45. (Emphasis by appellee).

On July 24, 2004, Robinson filed "a motion for post conviction relief," which was denied by the trial court. C.P. 4-7. Robinson complained of an involuntary plea, ineffective assistance and a cruel and unnecessarily long twenty year sentence for a man his age. C.P. 4-7.

On September 17, 2007, Robinson filed another motion for post conviction relief. C.P. 8-41. On September 26, 2007, the trial court denied relief finding the Order issued on October 25, 2004 was "a final judgment." Therefore under M C A § 99-39-23(6) Robinson's second motion was barred as "a successive writ." C.P. 48-49.

As stated in the trial court's Order denying relief on Robinson's motion:

On July 24, 2004, Mr. Robinson filed a motion for post conviction relief. On October 22, 2004, this Court denied Mr. Robinson's motion. On September 24, 2007, Mr. Robinson filed the present motion for post conviction relief to vacate and set aside sentence.

Pursuant to M. C. A. § 99-39-23(6) any order dismissing the prisoner's motion or otherwise denying relief under the post conviction relief act is a final judgement and shall be conclusive until reversed and shall be a bar to a second or successive motion under the act. According to M. C. A. § 99-39-23(6), there are several exceptions to this rule:...

Having reviewed Mr. Robinson's motion, the motion appears to be a second or successive motion under the post conviction relief act, fails to meet one of the listed exceptions, and should be barred pursuant to M. C. A. § 99-39-23(6). C.P. 48-49. (Emphasis by appellee).

The record reflects that the current motion for post conviction relief to vacate and set aside sentence was filed with the circuit court of Leflore County on September 17, 2007. C.P. 41.

The trial court's Order denying relief on this motion was entered on September 26, 2007. C.P. 49.

In that Order, the trial court pointed out that this motion to vacate and set aside sentence was a second motion. An original motion for post conviction relief was filed in July, 2004. It was denied in October 2004. C.P. 48-49.

The trial court' Order did not included Robinson's initial "motion to withdraw his guilty plea." R. 7-53. As shown with cites to the record from that hearing, this was a hearing on a motion to withdraw which came six months after Robinson's guilty plea had been accepted. R. 1-6. This would appear to the appellee to be the first of Robinson's motions for post conviction relief. This plus the other two mentioned in the trial court's order would indicate to the appellee that this appeal is from the denial of Robinson's third motion for post conviction relief.

In Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987), this Court stated there is a presumption that a trial court's judgement is correct. The burden is upon an appellant to prove otherwise.

We have held, "There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court." **Branch v. State**, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977). 'It is the duty of counsel to make more than an assertion, they should state reasons for their propositions, and cite authorities in their support...' **Johnson v. State**, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929).

The appellee would submit that the trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed. There was more than sufficient credible record evidence for concluding that Robinson's motion was barred as a second or third "successive writ." See M C A § 99-39-23(6).

This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF ANY EXCEPTION TO THE BAR. THIS INCLUDED CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

As stated by the trial court in denying relief to Robinson's second motion for post conviction relief, Robinson failed to qualify for any of the various exceptions for the bar to a second writ.

Having reviewed Mr. Robinson's motion, the motion appears to be a second or successive motion under the post conviction relief act, fails to meet one of the listed exceptions, and should be barred pursuant to M. C. A. § 99-39-23(6). C.P. 48-49.

M C A § 99-39-23(6):

Likewise, excepting from this prohibition are those cases in which the prisoner can demonstrate either that there has been an intervening decision of the supreme court of either the state of Mississippi or the United States which would have actually adversely affected the outcome of his conviction or sentence or that he has evidence, not reasonably discovered at the time of trial, which...would be practically conclusive that ...it would have caused a different result in the conviction or sentence.

The record reflects that in Robinson's appeal brief he thinks that **Towner v. State**, 837 So. 2d 221 (Miss. 2003) was an applicable intervening decision that would have caused a different result to his conviction or sentence. To the contrary, the record that Robinson rejected a plea offer made by the prosecution prior to pleading guilty. R. 24-26. Robinson's plea was "an open plea" with no recommendation from the state. He admitted knowing the twenty year minimum and life maximum sentence. R. 4. Robinson also admitted under oath that he understood the sentence he would receive would be left up to the trial court. R.5.

Towner, supra, is distinguishable from the facts of this case. First, Towner was found guilty after a trial and given a maximum sentence as a first time drug offender. Second, in **Towner**, the trial court admitted that his maximum sentence may have been excessive, and the prosecution was not opposed to any future sentencing.

And crucial for this appeal from Robinson's successive motion for post conviction relief,

Towner's sentencing issue was raised in his direct appeal. Whereas, Robinson acknowledged under oath at his guilty plea hearing that he understood their was no right of appeal from a guilty plea. R. 3.

Nor does **Towner**, **supra**, provide any basis for an exception to the bar for any successive writs under "the UPCCRA."

In **Bevel v. State**, 669 So. 2d. 14, 17 (Miss. 1996), the Court found that merely raising a claim of ineffective assistance where a defendant was time barred from filing for relief under "the UPCCRA" was not enough to constitute an exception to the statute of limitations. As stated:

Bevel raises a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. It is conceivable that under the facts of a particular case, this Court might find that a lawyer's performance was so deficient, and so prejudicial to the defendant, that the defendant's fundamental constitutional rights were violated. However, this Court has never held that merely raising a claim of ineffectual assistance of counsel is sufficient to surmount the procedural bar. It may also be noted that this Court held in **Patterson v. State**, 594 So. 2d. 606 (Miss. 1992), that a trial court's failure to advise a defendant of maximum and minimum sentences does not implicate a "fundamental constitutional right" sufficient to except a case from the procedural bar of Sect 99-39-5.

The appellee would submit that there is no reason to believe that Robinson has met the requirements for any exception to the bar for filing a successive writ. M. C.A. § 99-39-23(6). C.P. 4-41.

This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THERE WAS NO SUPPORT FOR ROBINSON'S MOTION. OR FOR ANY CHANGE IN HIS MINIMUM SENTENCE.

In addition, to being barred as a successive writ, the record reflects that there was no merit to Robinson's claims for relief.

In the trial court's first order denying relief on Robinson's motion for post conviction relief, the court properly found, given the record of this cause, that there was a lack of merit for his claims of involuntary plea, ineffective assistance and an excessively long sentence for someone of Robinson's age. C.P. 4-7.

As to evidentiary issues raised by Robinson concerning alleged defects in establishing elements of the charge, these issues were waived when Robinson pled guilty before the circuit court of Leflore county. The prosecution pointed out that it was prepared to present expert witness testimony of DNA evidence from Reliagene Laboratories in support of his conviction for statutory rape of Ms. Tawanna Glass. R. 48-50.

However, Robinson with the benefit of counsel decided to plead guilty rather than face a jury.

He acknowledged knowing that by pleading guilty the prosecution was not required to present factual proof beyond a reasonable doubt that he had in fact raped the victim, R. 2-6.

In **Brooks v. State**, 573 So. 2d 1350, 1352 (Miss. 1990), the Court stated that a guilty plea admits "all elements of a guilty charge" and operates as waives of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment.

Brooks, in the wake of his guilty pleas, assails allegedly defective indictments. A valid guilty plea, however, admits all elements of a formal criminal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment against a defendant.

In Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987), this Court stated there is a

presumption that a trial court's judgement is correct. The burden is upon an appellant to prove otherwise.

We have held, "There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court." **Branch v. State**, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977). 'It is the duty of counsel to make more than an assertion, they should state reasons for their propositions, and cite authorities in their support...' **Johnson v. State**, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929).

There is a lack of evidence of any ineffective assistance of counsel on the part of his guilty plea counsel, Mr. Leland Jones. There is a "strong presumption" that guilty plea counsel's advise, counsel and actions on behalf of Robinson fell within the wide range of professional competence required of such counsel. There is a presumption that his actions were "strategic choices" within the wide range of possible such choices on behalf of a defendant. **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693-95 (1984).

The thirty with ten years suspended sentence is within the guidelines provided for one convicted of statutory rape under M. C. A. § 97-3-65(1)(c), which can range from life imprisonment to "not less than twenty." In effect, contrary to Robinson's repeated complaints about his harsh sentence, he received "the minimum sentence" for one convicted of statutory rape.

There is a lack of evidence for finding that Robinson was misinformed or mislead as to his sentence in the instant cause. There were no affidavit from Mr. Jones who is being accused of having mislead Robinson as to his sentence.

At the hearing on his motion with Mr. Leland Jones prepared to testify in defense of Robinson's allegations, Robinson and his counsel, Mr. Walls, decided to withdraw their complaint of ineffective counsel. R. 44-48. There was no affidavit from Jones included with his motion to vacate and set aside sentence. C.P. 8-40.

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